

Since January 2020 Elsevier has created a COVID-19 resource centre with free information in English and Mandarin on the novel coronavirus COVID-19. The COVID-19 resource centre is hosted on Elsevier Connect, the company's public news and information website.

Elsevier hereby grants permission to make all its COVID-19-related research that is available on the COVID-19 resource centre - including this research content - immediately available in PubMed Central and other publicly funded repositories, such as the WHO COVID database with rights for unrestricted research re-use and analyses in any form or by any means with acknowledgement of the original source. These permissions are granted for free by Elsevier for as long as the COVID-19 resource centre remains active. Contents lists available at ScienceDirect



Journal of Infection and Public Health

journal homepage: http://www.elsevier.com/locate/jiph



Review Article

Laboratory diagnosis of SARS-CoV-2 - A review of current methods



^a Department of Medical Lab Technology. U P University of Medical Sciences, Saifai, 206130, India

^b Department of Neurology, U P University of Medical Sciences, Saifai, 206130, India

^c Department of Neurosurgery, U P University of Medical Sciences, Saifai, 206130, India

ARTICLE INFO

Article history: Received 29 April 2020 Received in revised form 1 June 2020 Accepted 2 June 2020

Keywords: Corona virus COVID-19 Lab diagnosis RT-PCR Immunological assay

ABSTRACT

At present the whole world is facing pandemic of the Coronavirus disease (COVID-19); caused by **severe acute respiratory syndrome coronavirus 2 (SARS-CoV-2)**. This disease has rapidly spreads across the world from its origin of Wuhan, **China and affected millions people worldwide and make them to remain in their homes**. The knowledge of available laboratory methods is essential for early and correct diagnosis of COVID-19 to identify **new cases as well as monitoring treatment of confirmed cases**. In this review we aim to provide the **updated** information about selection of specimens and **availability** of various diagnostic methods and their utility with current findings for the laboratory diagnosis of SARS-COV-2 infection. This will guide the healthcare professionals and government organizations to make strategy for establishing diagnostic facilities for SARS-COV-2 infections.

© 2020 Published by Elsevier Ltd on behalf of King Saud Bin Abdulaziz University for Health Sciences. This is an open access article under the CC BY-NC-ND license (http://creativecommons.org/licenses/bync-nd/4.0/).

Contents

Introduction	901
Laboratory diagnosis of SARS-CoV-2 infection	902
Types of specimen	902
Virus culture	
Immunological assay	903
Nucleic acid testing assay	903
Conclusion	
Funding	904
Competing interests	904
Ethical approval	904
References	904

Introduction

In December 2019 a major outbreak from Wuhan, was reported in the World Health Organization (WHO) country office of China. The COVID-19 is a highly infectious disease and after reporting the first case in china it has rapidly covered the entire world and affected the life of millions people. On 17th April there are a total 2,164,111 confirmed cases and 146,198 deaths of COVID-19 reported globally to the WHO [1]. Due to the occurrence of many cases worldwide; on January 30th, 2020 the World Health Organi-

* Corresponding author. E-mail address: rkyadav_2003@yahoo.com (R. Yadav). zation (WHO) declared a Public Health Emergency of International Concern [2]. In India, at present the total number of active cases and deaths are reported 12,289 and 488 respectively by the government agencies [3]. This COVID-19 infection also affected badly the United States of America, Spain, Italy and other countries.

The occurrence of an epidemic of respiratory infections in Wuhan, China, the CDC country office China documented its etiology which is attributed by a novel virus belongs to coronavirus (CoV) family; which includes alpha, and gamma Coronoaviruses. The virus has wide range of host such as humans, other mammals, and birds. The infected one may does not exhibit symptoms and may remain asymptomatic and some may have severe symptoms in their respiratory and digestive organs [4,5]. Coronavirus is a RNA virus which contains approximately 27–32 kb of positive-

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jiph.2020.06.005

^{1876-0341/© 2020} Published by Elsevier Ltd on behalf of King Saud Bin Abdulaziz University for Health Sciences. This is an open access article under the CC BY-NC-ND license (http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by-nc-nd/4.0/).

sense single-stranded RNA [4,5]. Like other corona viruses the nCoV have at least six open reading frames (ORFs) and many other accessory genes. At the 5' terminal two-thirds of the genome consists of two open reading frames (ORFs), ORF1 and ORF2. These ORF encodes two polyproteins, namely pp1a and pp1ab, and further cleaved into 11 and 16 proteins, respectively. At the 3' terminal the various structural proteins are located such as nucleocapsid (N), membrane protein (M), an envelope protein (E), and spike (S). These viruses also contain some accessory protein, which help in virus replication. The S gene, help nCoV for host specificity and receptor binding, and some may also contain hemagglutinin- esterase (HE) protein in their virion [6].

The COVID-19 infected patients have clinical manifestation which includes the fever and cough as primary clinical presentations and others are shortness of breath and myalgia etc. Some patients may have serious complications such as acute respiratory distress syndrome (ARDS) and cytokine storm, which may leads to death [7]. The collection of appropriate specimen is very crucial for detection of most of the infected cases of COVID-19. The nasopharyngeal swab usually collected, but in some instances we may miss the detection; therefore the lower respiratory tract specimens such as sputum, bronchoalveolar lavage (BAL) may be the alternate choice [8].

In this pandemic of SARS-CoV-2 the reliable, early and accurate diagnosis is very crucial to provide timely medical help to the infected individual as well as it helps to the government agencies to prevent its spread to other individuals and saves people's lives. False negative test result may lead to spread of the epidemic in the community; similarly the false positive result may lead unnecessary treatment and mental trauma to the patients. Therefore, there is an urgent need to have accurate, rapid, readily available and reliable diagnostic test for SARS-CoV-2 infection. Till date, various immunological and nucleic acid amplification diagnostic tests are developed and easily available. Various integrated point-of-care molecular devices are currently under development and some are available to provide accurate and fast diagnostic services for SARS-CoV-2 infections.

In present crisis of COVID-19 an accessible and reliable testing is a need of hour. In this review we try to explore the selection of appropriate specimen; availability and utility of various diagnostic tools for the purpose of diagnosis of COVID-19 infected cases. This will help the **authorities** to **utilize** the most suitable diagnostic tool, **for tracking the virus and to take timely action to suppress the transmission** [9].

Laboratory diagnosis of SARS-CoV-2 infection

Types of specimen

As per Centre for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC) recommendations the upper respiratory specimens should be collected for RT-PCR based testing of COVID-19 and especially the nasopharyngeal specimen is a preferred choice [10]. The CDC also recommended that when the nasopharyngeal swab is not possible the other specimen such as; an oropharyngeal (OP) specimen, nasal mid-turbinate (NMT) swab, an anterior nares (nasal swab; NS) specimen and nasopharyngeal wash/aspirate or nasal aspirate (NA) specimen can be collected alternatively. All specimens should be placed in a tube containing viral transport medium and transported to the laboratory on time. Similarly for serological assay the blood sample can be collected. The healthcare professional should adhere to infection prevention and control guidelines of WHO and use the personal protective equipment such as, gown, gloves, eye protection and N95 mask while collecting the specimen [11]. If the shipping of specimen to the reference diagnostic laboratories

required, the sample must be transported in triple packaging system; the sample vial must be properly labeled and sealed and kept in outer covering of absorbent material (primary container) and then placed in secondary container. After that the secondary container should be placed with frozen gel packs in the thermocol box (outer container). All the processes; including packaging, labeling and shipping must be done as per the WHO guideline [12].

Various studies conducted and have given evidence that the SARS-CoV-2 can invade digestives system and haematological system along with respiratory system [13]. Peng et al. from China; in their study they were collected different types of specimen for detection of SARS-CoV-2 RNA and found highest positivity rate in pharyngeal swab (78%), after that equally in blood and anal swab (22% each) and 11% in urine [13]. Another study published from United States, they found that stool, oropharyngeal swab and nasopaharyngeal swab were positive for SARS-CoV-2, while serum and urine were found negative. However this study is published as case report and included only one patient [14]. A study from china enrolled 41 patients; all are laboratory confirmed SARS-CoV2 infected. Among these only six blood specimens were found positive while all 41 respiratory specimens were found positive [15]. Another study from china found very interesting results that the virus can be detected in feces and blood along with respiratory specimens, however the percentage is not very promising [16].

In a recently published case report from Japan the investigators documented that when the clinical suspicion is high the negative PCR test on throat swabs is not sufficient to rule out the COVID-19 infection; but the bronchoalveolar lavage (BAL) of the lower respiratory tract specimen should be preferred for diagnosis [17]. Thus it is very important to conclude the final result of the highly suspected SARS-CoV-2 infected individuals; we should consider collecting various types of specimen. This will improve the detection rate and can reduce the false negative results. Similarly Peng et al. advocated the usefulness of testing of different specimen types for SARS-CoV-2 infection; to monitor disease changes and progression as well as for establishing a prognosis [13].

Virus culture

The virus culture can be done by standard methodology as described by Kim et al; briefly the Vero cells which were cultured 1 × Dulbecco's modified Eagle's medium (DMEM) supplemented with 2% fetal bovine serum at 37 °C with 5% CO₂; used for the inoculation of nasopharyngeal and oropharyngeal samples [18]. And after 3 days of inoculation the specific cytopathic effects were observed. Later on they are also confirmed by using real time RT PCR. Researcher from wuhan, china have done virus isolation on human airway epithelial cells and Vero E6 and Huh-7 cell lines by inoculation of bronchoalveolar-lavage samples and the isolated virus was named 2019-nCoV [19]. Using the human airway epithelial cell cultures for virus isolation is skilled labor intensive task, however these were found very promising for analysis of respiratory pathogens of humans [20]. Recently an Indian study reported the First isolation of SARS-CoV-2 by using Vero CCL-81 cells [21]. The inoculated cells with nasopharyngeal and oropharyngeal samples, visualized for specific cytopathic effects for COVID-19 then these cells were fixed, dehydrated and cut into sections for transmission electron microscopy with standard methodology described by Kim et al [18]. Kim et al reported that they have observed Coronavirus-specific morphology and found the virus particle size ranged from 70 to 90 nm. They also found that the virus is observed in wide range of intracellular organelles especially in vesicles [18]. Viral culture of SARS-CoV-2 needs to be conducted in a bio-safety Level-3 facility. The cell culture is very useful for isolation and characterization of viruses; but basically the cell culture for virus isolation is not recommended for diagnostic purposes.

Immunological assay

The immunological test measures the antibodies generated by host body's immune response against the virus infection or measures the proteins of COVID-19 virus present in the respiratory specimens. As virus enters in the human body it's elicit immune response to produce the antibody against the virus, detection of such antibody in infected person is very useful whether the person has symptoms or no symptom. Thus this type of tests provides valuable information about the person is exposed to this covid-19 or not. The only thing is that the antibody detection test is not for the identification of active cases of SARS-CoV-2 infections.

At the time of severe acute respiratory syndrome (SARS) epidemic, various reports documented that the detection of viral specific IgM and IgG are valid for serological diagnosis [22]. Xiang et al. [22] conducted a study in China and found that the serodiagnosis of COVID-19 based on IgM and IgG ELISA have great specificity for diagnosis of COVID-19. In their study they found that the sensitivity and specificity of detection of IgM were 77.3% & 100% and for IgG detection were 83.3.3% and 95.0% respectively; in the confirmed patients with COVID-19. Similarly in suspected COVID-19 cases the sensitivity and specificity were found for IgM 87.5% and 100% and for IgG were 70.8% & 96.6% respectively. Thus the detection of both IgG and IgM with higher specificity makes them reliable and could help us to establish the diagnosis of COVID-19 patients.

In general the lateral flow assay is used in the rapid point of care immunoassay. This assay could help us for rapid and on-site detection of COVID-19 especially in case of an emergency. These assays were developed to detect antigen of SARS CoV-2 virus or detecting IgG and IgM antibodies against the SARS CoV-2 virus infection [23]. Tang et al. emphasized that the detection of IgM and IgG antibodies by rapid lateral flow assay will play an important role in COVID-19 infections and help us to assess the burden of infections, find out asymptomatic patients etc [23]. COVID-19 IgM/IgG Rapid Test of BioMedomics is such of point of care device with 88.66% sensitivity available in the market [41]. Despite the rapidity and low cost of these immunoassays based on antigen detection for SARS-CoV-2; previous experience for influenza (Flu) viruses utilizing this type of assay has limitation of its uses. While utilizing this type of antigen detection test; one should keep in his mind that due to sampling variability and low viral load in the infected person, we may miss the case.

Serological assays are very rapidly developed and they measure the host immune response against the invading pathogens. Serological assay were used earlier in SARS and other corona virus outbreaks and played important role [24,25]. A study from china documented that by immunehistochemical analysis that we can detect the antigen in the lung tissue of the patients and the detection of IgM and IgG antiviral antibodies in the serum can provide additional evidences to confirm the COVID-19 cases [19]. A recent study from china analyzing the family cluster of SARS-CoV-2 infections revealed that the serology testing can assist in timely diagnosis while screening in close contacts [26]. Although WHO has recommended that the serology testing can be used where molecular testing is not available [27]. However the study from China emphasized the need of serology testing in this pandemic of COVID-19 due to high number of cases [26]. Immunological tests have limitation to use in early phase of infection because that time the immune response is still building. In case of COVID-19 infection we are in early phase of developing immunological diagnosis, some diagnostic test has been approved by Food and Drug administration of America, but still they are not recommended to use solely for the diagnosis of COVID-19 [28]. Similarly WHO also recommended that these points of care immunodiagnostic test used only in research setting not the purpose of clinical decision making until and unless the evidences also supported [29]. Even though certain limitations, in future these immunological tests may have critical role in the identification of individuals who have recovered from this COVID infection in the past. The test result may also help us in choosing the convalescent plasma, which can be used as treatment option for COVID-19 infected individuals [28].

Nucleic acid testing assay

In acute respiratory infection, RT-PCR is routinely used to detect causative viruses from respiratory secretions in nucleic acid testing assay. The real time reverse transcription–polymerase chain reaction (real time RT-PCR) is one of the best and accurate laboratory methods for detecting, tracking, and studying the coronavirus. Real time RT-PCR is a method by which we can detect the presence of specific target genetic material. Nowadays various fluorescent dyes are used as marker to detect the specific genetic target; earlier radioactive isotopes were used as marker. The most important aspect of using real-time RT-PCR assays is that the amplification and analysis will be carried out in a closed system; therefore the chances of false positive results will be minimized [30].

The Real time RT-PCR facilitates in analyzing the result in real time even though the process is still ongoing; which makes it more useful than conventional RT-PCR which provides the result at the end. The recent emergence of the coronavirus (COVID-19) has demonstrated the need of reliable and rapid detection, thus in present scenario the real time RT-PCR is the most widely used methods for the detection of coronavirus. The molecular testing is still a "gold standard" for relevant case diagnosis [26]. Most of the molecular diagnostics being developed are based on real-time RT-PCR assays for COVID-19 infection; loop-mediated isothermal amplification, clustered regularly interspaced short palindromic repeats and multiplex isothermal amplification followed by microarray detection are the some other methods which were developed and evaluated worldwide [23].

For conducting the PCR assay the number of molecular target have been identified within the RNA of Corona viruses; such as helicase (Hel), nucleocapsid (N), transmembrane (M), envelope (E) and envelope glycoproteins spike (S) [23]. Hemagglutinin-esterase (HE), open reading frames ORF1a and ORF1b and RNA-dependent RNA polymerase (RdRp), are some other genes that encode structural proteins can be utilized for the COVID-19 diagnosis [23]. In this real time –PCR assay the viral RNA is measured by the cycle threshold (Ct), which is defined as the number of cycles required for the fluorescent signal to cross the threshold and becomes detectable. The interpretation of result in real time-PCR is based on Ct values for specimen; a value less than 40 is clinically reported as PCR positive. In RT-PCR most of time results are 100% specific but false negative result may also occur; which may be due to sampling error or inappropriate timing of sampling [30].

The WHO recommended that the E gene assay followed by a confirmatory assay using the RdRp gene can be utilized for first line screening of COVID-19 cases [31]; and in the United States the CDC asked to use two nucleocapsid protein targets [N1 and N2] as molecular assay [32]. A study published from Hong Kong, China found that RdRp/Hel assay had the lowest limit of detection in vitro and have higher sensitivity and specificity among the three developed novel real-time RT-PCR assays targeting the RdRp/Hel, S, and N genes of SARS-CoV-2 [33].

It is advisable to use, at least two molecular targets to avoid the situation of a potential genetic drift of SARS-CoV-2 and the cross-reaction with other endemic coronaviruses as well However, the ideal design would include at least one conserved region and one specific region to mitigate against the effects of genetic drift,

Table 1

RT-PCR results of various studies for the diagnosis of SARs-CoV-2 infection.

Author [reference]	Target	No of patients	Positive (%)	Sensitivity	Specificity
Wong et al, 2019 [34]	RNA-dependent RNA polymerase (RdRp)/helicase (Hel) gene	64	58 (91%)	91%	NA
Yip et al, 2020 [35]	Non structural protein2 (nsp2) Real-Time RT-PCR Assay	14	14 (100%)	100%	NA
He et al, 2020 [36]	Open reading frame 1ab (ORF1ab)	34	27 (79.4%)	79	100
Fang et al, 2020 [37]	Open reading frame 1ab (ORF1ab), nucleocapsid (N) gene and envelope (E) gene	57	36 (63.15%)	71%	NA
Liu et al, 2020 [38]	Open reading frame 1ab (ORF1ab)	4880	2000 (40.98%)	NA	NA
	Nucleocapsid protein (NP) genes	4880	1942 (39.8%)	NA	NA

NA- Data Not available in article.

especially as the virus evolves within new populations [23]. Various studies conducted worldwide using molecular assay (RT-PCR Assay) for diagnosis of COVID-19 infections (Table 1). Most of the studies were used at least two target assay in combination for diagnosis of COVID-19 infections. In a study from Germany they have chosen envelope and RNA-dependent RNA polymerase [31]. In another study from Hong Kong, China the researcher first used the nucleocapsid for screening followed by confirmation by the open reading frame 1b [33]. Similarly CDC conducted a study in the United States by selecting two loci in nucleocapsid gene and found the good performance for detection of COIVD-19 [32].

In view of the critical situations of COVID-19 infections worldwide, various companies attempted to develop commercial kits for detection of SARS-CoV-2 RNA by Real Time PCR. Various institutes of Indian Council of Medical Research, New Delhi (ICMR) till date (17/04/2020) evaluated the performance of 31 such commercial kits and among these 14 kits were found satisfactory [39].

Even though the RT-PCR is a tool to do definitive diagnosis of COVID-19, but the sensitivity is reported to be lower than Chest CT examinations. However; the chest CT alone does not differentiate between COVID-19 pneumonia to other viral Pneumonia [40]. Another molecular method that is Loop-mediated isothermal amplification (LAMP) reaction, could serve as an alternative method to the RT-qPCR to detect COVID-19. The LAMP is a nucleic acid amplification technique, which amplifies the DNA in isothermal condition with rapidity and high specificity. This method can be utilised for the diagnosis of COVId-19 without the need of specialized equipments and trained analysts. In near future the point-of-care device based on LAMP can be a potential diagnostic tool for the diagnosis of COVID-19 infected individuals [41]. Recently; Prof. Feng Zhang et al given a CRISPR-Cas13 (clustered regularly interspaced short palindromic repeats- and associated Cas proteins13) based SHERLOCK (specific high-sensitivity enzymatic reporter unlocking) protocols, which is accurate and rapid method for Novel Coronavirus (COVID-19) [42]. Kim et al in their study reported that they have constructed the next generation sequencing (NGS) library by amplifying the full-length genes of the isolates using the synthesized cDNA and primers specific for SARS-CoV-2 [18].

Further development and inclusion of these new technologies for the diagnosis of COVID-19 can provide a better, accurate and rapid tool. These developments may also reduce the need of sophisticated equipments and specific training; this will help us to reach to a wide community for screening as well as for diagnosing them.

Conclusion

In a present scenario the early diagnosis is very crucial to identify the infectious cases to prevent community transmission. At present various technologies are available to provide better diagnostic services to the community in this outbreak. There is need to collect the right specimen on right time for proper diagnosis. Due to high risk of infection, the challenges are to keep healthcare professional safe by having appropriate PPE kits. Real time RT-PCR assay remain the molecular test of choice for etiologic diagnosis of the COVID-19 cases; while antibody based immunological test are used as supplementary tools for screening the whole community and confirming with the molecular assay. Both real time RT-PCR and immunological assay help us to tackle this major outbreak of COVID-19, which impacted the life of people and global economy. The rapid test kits are in demand for providing rapid diagnostic services in an emergency situation as well at bed-side to the patients. In summary the proper utilization of available test in alone or in combination; we can detect the COVID-19 cases as soon as possible and saves lives of human being.

Funding

No funding Sources.

Competing interests

None declared.

Ethical approval

Not required.

References

- World Health Organization, Available at https://covid19.who.int/ [Accessed 19 April] (I), Coronavirus (COVID-19).; 2020.
- [2] World Health Organization, 2020 (II), available at https://www.who.int/ emergencies/diseases/novel-coronavirus-2019/events-as-they-happen. [Accessed 16 April 2020].
- [3] Government of India, India Fights Corona COVID-19. Available at https://www. mygov.in/covid-19 [Accessed 18 April 2020].
- [4] Cui J, Li F, Shi ZL. Origin and evolution of pathogenic coronaviruses. Nat Rev Microbiol 2019;17(3):181–92, http://dx.doi.org/10.1038/s41579-018-0118-9.
- [5] Monchatre-Leroy E, Boue F, Boucher JM, Renault C, Moutou F, Ar Gouilh M, et al. Identification of alpha and Beta coronavirus in wildlife species in France: bats, rodents, rabbits, and hedgehogs. Viruses 2017;9(12):364, http://dx.doi.org/10. 3390/v9120364.
- [6] Malik YS, Sircar S, Bhat S, Sharun K, Dhama K, Dadar M, et al. Emerging novel coronavirus (2019-nCoV)-current scenario, evolutionary perspective based on genome analysis and recent developments. Veterinary Quaterly 2020;40(1):68-76, http://dx.doi.org/10.1080/01652176.2020.1727993.
- [7] Yunbao Pan, Xinran Li, Gui Yang, Junli Fan, Yueting Tang, Jin Zhao, Xinghua Long, Shuang Guo, Ziwu Zhao, Yinjuan Liu, Hanning Hu, Han Xue, Yirong Li. Serological immunochromatographic approach in diagnosis with SARS-CoV-2 infected COVID-19 patients Journal of Infection, https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jinf. 2020.03.051.
- [8] Loeffelholz Michael J, Tang Yi-Wei. Laboratory diagnosis of emerging human coronavirus infections – the state of the art. Emerg Microbes Infect 2020;9:747–56, http://dx.doi.org/10.1080/22221751.2020.1745095.
- [9] World Health Organization, Available at https://www.who.int/emergencies/ diseases/novel-coronavirus-2019/technical-guidance/laboratory-guidance [Accessed 18 April 2020] (III). Coronavirus disease (COVID-19) technical guidance: laboratory testing for 2019-nCoV in humans; 2020.
- [10] Centre of Disease Control and Prevention, Available at: https://www.cdc.gov/ coronavirus/2019-ncov/lab/guidelines-clinical-specimens.html; [Accessed 16 April 2020] Coronavirus disease 2019 (COVID-19)- guideline for clinical specimen; 2020.
- [11] World Health Organization (https://www.who.int/docs/defaultsource/ coronaviruse/laboratory-biosafety-novelcoronavirus-version-1-1. pdf?sfvrsn=912a9847_2) (IV). Laboratory biosafety guidance related to the novel coronavirus (2019-nCoV); 2020.
- [12] World Health Organization. (V). World Health Organization-IV; Guidance for Laboratories Shipping Specimens to WHO Reference Laboratories that Provide

Confirmatory Testing for COVID-19 Virus. March; 2020 https://apps.who.int/ iris/bitstream/handle/10665/331337/WHO-COVID-19-laboratoryshipment-2020.2-eng.pdf?sequence=1&isAllowed=y.

- [13] Peng L, Liu J, Xu W, Luo Q, Chen D, Lei Z, et al. SARS-CoV-2 can be detected in urine, blood, anal swabs, and oropharyngeal swabs specimens. J Med Virol 2020;(April), http://dx.doi.org/10.1002/jmv.25936 [Epub ahead of print].
- [14] Holshue ML, DeBolt C, Lindquist S, et al. First case of 2019 novel coronavirus in the United States. N Engl J Med 2020;382:929–36, http://dx.doi.org/10.1056/ NEJMoa2001191.
- [15] Huang CL, Wang YM, Li XW, et al. Clinical features of patients infected with 2019 novel coronavirus in Wuhan, China. Lancet 2020;395:497–506, http:// dx.doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(20)30183-5.
- [16] Wang WL, Xu YL, Gao RQ, et al. Detection of SARS-CoV-2 in different types of clinical specimens. JAMA 2020, http://dx.doi.org/10.1001/jama.2020.3786.
- [17] Hase R, Kurita T, Muranaka E, Sasazawa H, Mito H, Yano Y. A case of imported COVID-19 diagnosed by PCR-positive lower respiratory specimen but with PCR-negative throat swabs. Infect Dis 2020:1–4, http://dx.doi.org/10.1080/ 23744235.2020.1744711.
- [18] Kim Jm, Chung Ys, Jo Hj, Lee Nj, Kim Jm S, Woo Sh, et al. Identification of coronavirus isolated from a patient in Korea with COVID-19, 11. Osong Public Health Res Perspect; 2020. p. 3–7, http://dx.doi.org/10.24171/j.phrp.2020.11. 1.02. February (1)PMID: 32149036; PMCID: PMC7045880.
- [19] Zhu N, Zhang D, Wang W, Li X, Yang B, Song J, et al. A novel coronavirus from patients with pneumonia in China, 2019. N Engl J Med 2020;382:727–33, http:// dx.doi.org/10.1056/NEJMoa2001017.
- [20] Jonsdottir HR, Dijkman R. Coronaviruses and the human airway: a universal system for virus-host interaction studies. Virol J 2016;13:24.
- [21] Sarkale P., Patil S., Yadav P.D., Nyayanit D.A., Sapkal G., Baradkar S., Lakra R., Shete-Aich A., Prasad S., Basu A., Dar L., Vipat V., Giri S., Potdar V., Choudhary M.L., Praharaj I., Jain A., Malhotra B., Gawande P., Kalele K., Gupta N., Cherian S.S., Abraham P. First isolation of SARS-CoV-2 from clinical samples in India. Indian J Med Res, Epub ahead of print DOI: https://doi.org/10.4103/ijmr.IJMR. 1029.20.
- [22] Xiang F, Wang X, He X, Peng Z, Yang B, Zhang J, et al. Antibody detection and dynamic characteristics in patients with COVID-19. Clin Infect Dis 2020;(April 19), http://dx.doi.org/10.1093/cid/ciaa461, ciaa461.
- [23] Yi-Wei Tang, Jonathan E. Schmitz, David H. Persing and Charles W. Stratton. The Laboratory Diagnosis of COVID-19 Infection: Current Issues and Challenges. J. Clin. Microbiol. doi:https://doi.org/10.1128/JCM.00512-20.
- [24] Chen X, Zhou B, Li M, Liang X, Wang H, Yang G, et al. Serology of severe acute respiratory syndrome: implications for surveillance and outcome. J Infect Dis 2004;189:1158-63, http://dx.doi.org/10.1086/380397. Epub 2004 Mar 16.
- [25] Chan CM, Tse H, Wong SS, Woo PC, Lau SK, Chen L, et al. Examination of seroprevalence of coronavirus HKU1 infection with S protein-based ELISA and neutralization assay against viral spike pseudotyped virus. J Clin Virol 2009;45:54–60, http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.jcv.2009.02.011. Epub 2009 Apr 1.
- [26] Xu Yan, Xiao Meng, Liu Xinchao, Xu Shengyong, Du Tiekuan, Xu Jun, Yang Qiwen, Xu Yingchun, Han Yang, Li Taicheng, Zhu Huadong, Wang Mengzhao. Significance of serology testing to assist timely diagnosis of SARS-CoV-2 infections: implication from a family cluster. J Emerging Microbes Infect 2020, http://dx.doi.org/10.1080/22221751.2020.1752610.
- [27] World Health Organization, Available at https://www.who.int/news-room/ commentaries/detail/advice-on-the-use-of-point-of-care-immunodiagnostictests-for-covid-19; [Accessed 16 April 2020] (VI). Advice on the use of Point-of-care Immunodiagnostic Tests for COVID-19; 2020.

- [28] U S Food and Drug Administration, Available at: https://www.fda.gov/newsevents/press-announcements/coronavirus-covid-19-update-serologicaltests; [Accessed 18 April 2020] FDA Statement: coronavirus (COVID-19) update: serological tests; 2020.
- [29] World Health Organization. Coronavirus Disease (COVID-19) Outbreak. https:// www.who.int/.
- [30] Sethuraman N, Jeremiah SS, Ryo A. Interpreting diagnostic tests for SARS-CoV-2. JAMA 2020, http://dx.doi.org/10.1001/jama.2020.8259.
- [31] Corman VM, Landt O, Kaiser M, Molenkamp R, Meijer A, Chu DKW, et al. Detection of 2019 novel coronavirus (2019-nCoV) by real-time RT-PCR. Euro Surveill 2020;25(3), 10.2807/1560-7917.ES.2020.25.3.2000045.
- [32] Holshue ML, DeBolt C, Lindquist S, Lofy KH, Wiesman J, Bruce H, et al. First case of 2019 novel coronavirus in the United States. N Engl J Med 2020;382: 929–36.
- [33] Chan JF, Yip CC, To KK, Tang TH, Wong SC, Leung KH, et al. Improved molecular diagnosis of COVID-19 by the novel, highly sensitive and specific COVID-19-RdRp/Hel real-time reverse transcription-polymerase chain reaction assay validated in vitro and with clinical specimens. J Clin Microbiol 2020;4:00310–20.
- [34] Wong HYF, Lam HYS, Fong AH, et al. Frequency and Distribution of Chest Radiographic Findings in COVID-19 Positive Patients [published online ahead of print, 2019 Mar 27]. Radiology 2019:201160, http://dx.doi.org/10.1148/radiol. 2020201160.
- [35] Yip CC, Ho CC, Chan JF, et al. Development of a novel, genome subtractionderived, SARS-CoV-2-Specific COVID-19-nsp2 real-time RT-PCR assay and its evaluation using clinical specimens. Int J Mol Sci 2020;21(7):2574, http://dx. doi.org/10.3390/ijms21072574. Published 2020 Apr 8.
- [36] He JL, Luo L, Luo ZD, et al. Diagnostic performance between CT and initial real-time RT-PCR for clinically suspected 2019 coronavirus disease (COVID-19) patients outside Wuhan, China [published online ahead of print, 2020 Apr 21]. Respir Med 2020;168:105980.
- [37] Fang Y, Zhang H, Xie J, et al. Sensitivity of Chest CT for COVID-19: comparison to RT-PCR [published online ahead of print, 2020 Feb 19]. Radiology 2020:200432, http://dx.doi.org/10.1148/radiol.2020200432.
- [38] Liu R, Han H, Liu F, et al. Positive rate of RT-PCR detection of SARS-CoV-2 infection in 4880 cases from one hospital in Wuhan, China, from Jan to Feb 2020. Clin Chim Acta 2020;505:172-5, http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.cca.2020.03.009.
- [39] Indian Council of Medical Research, New Delhi, Available at https://icmr. nic.in/sites/default/files/upload_documents/Real_time_PCR_tests_17042020_v. pdf; [Accessed 17 April 2020] Performance Evaluation of Commercial Kits for Detection of SARS-CoV-2 RNA by Real Time PCR; 2020.
- [40] Hao Feng, Yujian Liu, Minli Lv, Jianquan Zhong. A case report of COVID-19 with false negative RT-PCR test: necessity of chest CT. Japanese Journal of Radiology. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11604-020-00967-9.
- [41] Nguyen T, Duong Bang D, Wolff A. Novel coronavirus disease (COVID-19): paving the road for rapid detection and point-of-Care diagnostics. 2020. Micromachines 2019;11(3):306.
- [42] Xiang X, Qian K, Zhang Z, et al. CRISPR-Cas systems based molecular diagnostic tool for infectious diseases and emerging 2019 Novel Coronavirus (COVID-19) pneumonia [published online ahead of print, 2020 may 13]. J Drug Target 2020:1–10, http://dx.doi.org/10.1080/1061186X.2020.1769637.